
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

[EXTRAORDINARY]
Wednesday, 26 April 2017 at 6.00 p.m., Room C1, 1st Floor, Town Hall, 

Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG
This meeting is open to the public to attend. 

Members: 
Chair: Councillor John Pierce
Vice Chair: Councillor Abdul Mukit MBE Scrutiny Lead for Resources

Councillor Amina Ali Scrutiny Lead for Development and Renewal
Councillor Abdul Asad
Councillor Julia Dockerill Scrutiny Lead for Children's Services
Councillor Clare Harrisson Scrutiny Lead for Adult Health and Wellbeing
Councillor Muhammad Ansar Mustaquim Scrutiny Lead Member for Governance
Councillor Oliur Rahman
Councillor Helal Uddin

Co-opted Members:
Shabbir Chowdhury Parent Governors
Asad M Jaman Muslim Faith Community
Fatiha Kassouri Parent Governors
Dr Phillip Rice Church of England Representative
Christine Trumper Parent Governors
Deputies:
Councillor Danny Hassell, Councillor Dave Chesterton, Councillor Ohid Ahmed, Councillor 
Gulam Kibria Choudhury, Councillor Peter Golds, Councillor Denise Jones, Councillor Md. 
Maium Miah and Councillor Andrew Wood

[The quorum for this body is 3 voting Members]
Contact for further enquiries:
David Knight, Democratic Services
1st Floor, Town Hall, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, 
London, E14 2BG
Tel: 020 7364 4878
E-mail: david.knight@towerhamlets.gov.uk
Web: http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee

Scan this code for 
the electronic 
agenda:



Public Information
Attendance at meetings.
The public are welcome to attend meetings of the Committee. However seating is limited and 
offered on a first come first served basis. 

Audio/Visual recording of meetings.
Should you wish to film the meeting, please contact the Committee Officer shown on the 
agenda front page.

Mobile telephones
Please switch your mobile telephone on to silent mode whilst in the meeting. 

Access information for the Town Hall, Mulberry Place.     

Bus: Routes: D3, D6, D7, D8, 15, 108, and115 all stop 
near the Town Hall. 
Docklands Light Railway: Nearest stations are East 
India: Head across the bridge and then through 
complex to the Town Hall, Mulberry Place 
Blackwall station. Across the bus station then turn 
right to the back of the Town Hall complex, through 
the gates and archway to the Town Hall. 
Tube: The closest tube stations are Canning Town 
and Canary Wharf 
Car Parking: There is limited visitor pay and display 
parking at the Town Hall (free from 6pm)

If you are viewing this on line:(http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/content_pages/contact_us.aspx) 
Meeting access/special requirements. 
The Town Hall is accessible to people with special needs. There are accessible toilets, lifts to 
venues. Disabled parking bays and an induction loop system for people with hearing difficulties 
are available.  Documents can be made available in large print, Braille or audio version. For 
further information, contact the Officer shown on the front of the agenda 

Fire alarm
If the fire alarm sounds please leave the building immediately by the nearest available fire exit 
without deviating to collect belongings. Fire wardens will direct you to the exits and to the fire 
assembly point. If you are unable to use the stairs, a member of staff will direct you to a safe 
area. The meeting will reconvene if it is safe to do so, otherwise it will stand adjourned.
Electronic agendas reports and minutes.
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be 
found on our website from day of publication.  

To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for
the relevant committee and meeting date.
Agendas are available at the Town Hall, Libraries, Idea Centres and One 
Stop Shops and on the Mod.Gov, iPad and Android apps.  

QR code for 
smart phone 
users.



SECTION ONE WARD PAGE 
NUMBER(S)

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

To receive any apologies for absence.

2. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTEREST 

1 - 4

To note any declarations of interest made by Members, 
including those restricting Members from voting on the 
questions detailed in Section 106 of the Local Government 
Finance Act, 1992.  See attached note from the Interim 
Monitoring Officer.

3. REQUESTS TO SUBMIT PETITIONS 

To receive any petitions (to be notified at the meeting).

4. UNRESTRICTED REPORTS 'CALLED IN' 

No decisions of the Mayor in Cabinet ( … date … ) in 
respect of unrestricted reports on the agenda were ‘called 
in’.

5. UNRESTRICTED REPORTS FOR 
CONSIDERATION 

All Wards

5 .1 Ofsted Single Inspection Framework Outcome 2017  All Wards 5 - 52

6. SCRUTINY SPOTLIGHT 

6 .1 Chief Executive Organisational Culture and 
Governance  

All Wards

The Committee will receive a presentation from the Chief 
Executive on Organisational Culture and Governance. 

7. PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF UNRESTRICTED 
CABINET PAPERS 

To consider and agree pre-decision scrutiny 
questions/comments to be presented to Cabinet.



 
(Time allocated – 30 minutes).

8. ANY OTHER UNRESTRICTED BUSINESS 
WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS TO BE 
URGENT 

To consider any other unrestricted business that the Chair 
considers to be urgent.

9. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  

In view of the contents of the remaining items on the 
agenda the Committee is recommended to adopt the 
following motion:

“That, under the provisions of Section 100A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act 1985, the press 
and public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting 
for the consideration of the Section Two business on the 
grounds that it contains information defined as Exempt in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act, 
1972.”

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL SECTION (Pink Papers)

The exempt committee papers in the agenda will contain 
information, which is commercially, legally or personally 
sensitive and should not be divulged to third parties.  If you 
do not wish to retain these papers after the meeting, please 
hand them to the Committee Officer present.

SECTION TWO WARD PAGE 
NUMBER(S)

10. EXEMPT/ CONFIDENTIAL REPORTS 'CALLED 
IN' 

No decisions of the Mayor in Cabinet (… date …) in 
respect of exempt/ confidential reports on the agenda were 
‘called in’.

11. PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF EXEMPT/ 
CONFIDENTIAL) CABINET PAPERS 

To consider and agree pre-decision scrutiny 
questions/comments to be presented to Cabinet.



 
(Time allocated 15 minutes).

12. ANY OTHER EXEMPT/ CONFIDENTIAL 
BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR CONSIDERS 
URGENT 

To consider any other exempt/ confidential business that 
the Chair considers to be urgent.

Next Meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Tuesday, 9 May 2017 at 6.00 p.m. to be held in Room C1, 1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry 
Place, 5 Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG



This page is intentionally left blank



DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS - NOTE FROM THE INTERIM MONITORING OFFICER

This note is for guidance only.  For further details please consult the Members’ Code of Conduct 
at Part 5.1 of the Council’s Constitution.   

Please note that the question of whether a Member has an interest in any matter, and whether or 
not that interest is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, is for that Member to decide.  Advice is 
available from officers as listed below but they cannot make the decision for the Member.  If in 
doubt as to the nature of an interest it is advisable to seek advice prior to attending a meeting.  

Interests and Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs)

You have an interest in any business of the authority where that business relates to or is likely to 
affect any of the persons, bodies or matters listed in section 4.1 (a) of the Code of Conduct; and 
might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-being or financial position of yourself, a 
member of your family or a person with whom you have a close association, to a greater extent 
than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward affected.

You must notify the Interim Monitoring Officer in writing of any such interest, for inclusion in the 
Register of Members’ Interests which is available for public inspection and on the Council’s 
Website.

Once you have recorded an interest in the Register, you are not then required to declare that 
interest at each meeting where the business is discussed, unless the interest is a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest (DPI).

A DPI is defined in Regulations as a pecuniary interest of any of the descriptions listed at 
Appendix A overleaf.  Please note that a Member’s DPIs include his/her own relevant interests 
and also those of his/her spouse or civil partner; or a person with whom the Member is living as 
husband and wife; or a person with whom the Member is living as if they were civil partners; if the 
Member is aware that that other person has the interest.   

Effect of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest on participation at meetings

Where you have a DPI in any business of the Council you must, unless you have obtained a 
dispensation from the authority's Interim Monitoring Officer following consideration by the 
Dispensations Sub-Committee of the Standards Advisory Committee:-

- not seek to improperly influence a decision about that business; and
- not exercise executive functions in relation to that business.

If you are present at a meeting where that business is discussed, you must:-
- Disclose to the meeting  the existence and nature of the interest at the start of the meeting 

or when the interest becomes apparent, if later; and 
- Leave the room (including any public viewing area) for the duration of consideration and 

decision on the item and not seek to influence the debate or decision 

When declaring a DPI, Members should specify the nature of the interest and the agenda item to 
which the interest relates.  This procedure is designed to assist the public’s understanding of the 
meeting and to enable a full record to be made in the minutes of the meeting.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Where you have a DPI in any business of the authority which is not included in the Member’s 
register of interests and you attend a meeting of the authority at which the business is 
considered, in addition to disclosing the interest to that meeting, you must also within 28 days 
notify the Interim Monitoring Officer of the interest for inclusion in the Register. 

Further advice

For further advice please contact:-
Graham White, Acting Corporate Director Law Probity and Governance Tel 020 7364 4800

Page 2



APPENDIX A:  Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest

(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule)

Subject Prescribed description
Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vacation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 
for profit or gain.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the 
relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by the 
Member in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the 
election expenses of the Member.
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a 
body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 
the relevant authority—
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works 
are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the relevant authority for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where—
(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and
(b) either—

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the 
total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth 
of the total issued share capital of that class.

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Non-Executive Report of the:

Overview and Scrutiny
26 April 2017

Report of: Debbie Jones, Corporate Director Children’s 
Services 

Classification:
Unrestricted 

Ofsted Single Inspection Framework Outcome 2017 

Originating Officer(s) Layla Richards, Service Manager Policy, Programmes 
and Community Insight

Wards affected All wards 

SUMMARY
This report to the Overview & Scrutiny Committee follows the outcome of the Ofsted 
Single Inspection of children in need of help and protection; children looked after and 
care leavers and the Local Safeguarding Children Board. The inspection took place 
between 23 January and 16 February 2017 and the overall judgement was that 
Children’s Services in Tower Hamlets are inadequate. 

This report provides the Overview & Scrutiny Committee with a summary of that 
inspection, the findings, the high-level response to date and an outline of the 
process to agree an improvement plan.  

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Overview & Scrutiny Committee is recommended to: 

1. Note the content of this report and consider the improvement activity outlined 
in section four of this report. 

2. Consider the role of OSC in relation to the Children’s Services Improvement 
Board.

Page 5

Agenda Item 5.1



2

1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS

1.1 It is important that the Overview & Scrutiny Committee has the opportunity to 
receive information about the inspection and to consider the improvement 
activity set out in section four of this report. 

2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

2.1 There is no alternative option. It is highly important that Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee be involved in this process. 

3. OFSTED INSPECTION 

3.1 On 7 April 2017 Ofsted published the report of Tower Hamlets’ Single 
Inspection of children in need of help and protection; children looked after and 
care leavers and the Local Safeguarding Children Board. The overall 
judgement in this report is that Children’s Services in Tower Hamlets are 
inadequate. 

3.2 There were also individual judgements of inadequate for Help and Protection 
and Leadership, Management Governance. Services for Looked After 
Children and Achieving Permanence, which is broken down into two further 
judgements of Adoption Performance and Experiences and Progress of Care 
Leavers were judged to require improvement. The Local Safeguarding 
Children Board was inspected at the same time and this was also judged to 
be inadequate. 

3.3 This was the first time that Tower Hamlets had been inspected against the 
Single Inspection Framework. Prior to this the last inspection of Children’s 
Services had been in July 2012 under a different framework, the Safeguarding 
and Looked After Children (SLAC) framework, when Tower Hamlets had been 
rated ‘Good’.

3.4 The report is broken down by each of the areas for which judgements are 
provided outlined above and each section details the inspection findings. The 
report also details 15 recommendations which the local authority must act 
upon.  

3.5 As a result of the inspection judgement the Council has been issued with a 
draft direction of improvement by the Secretary of State and a Department for 
Education improvement advisor will also be identified to work with the Council 
to support the necessary improvement. 

Page 6



3

4. OFSTED RECOMMENDATIONS AND ACTION

4.1     Outlined below is a summary of the recommendations and the Council’s high 
level actions that will form the basis of the Inspection Improvement Plan which 
is being developed.  The Plan will evolve over time as improvements become 
embedded and challenge and scrutiny are offered. There will be further 
opportunity for the OSC to be involved.

Recommendation One 
 To take immediate action to ensure that work with children and their families 

is compliant with basic practice standards and that poor practice is 
challenged.

Summary of action
All social work staff and managers will undergo a “back to basics” training 
programme to ensure consistency of practice and compliance with law and 
policy.

Recommendation Two 
 To take steps to ensure that thresholds are consistently applied and that 

children who need to see a social worker do so.

Summary of actions
 As part of the response to recommendation one, expectations around 

thresholds will be reinforced and managers and auditors will reinforce their 
application.  

Recommendation Three
 Ensure that strategy discussions include all relevant agencies and that robust 

arrangements are in place to protect children while child protection 
investigations take place.

Summary of actions
 Attendance at strategy discussions will be closely monitored and when 

necessary, other agencies will be engaged in discussion about their 
attendance. 

Recommendation Four
 Improve the quality of assessments and plans for children to ensure that 

purposeful work takes place to prevent drift, and to protect children in need of 
help and protection and children in care.

Summary of action
 There will be a strengthened focus on timely and detailed assessment. 

Management oversight before assessments and plans are signed off will be 
increased to assure quality. 

Recommendation Five
 Ensure that independent reviewing officers and child protection chairs provide 

sufficient challenges to the plans.

Page 7



4

Summary of action
 The role of Child Protection chairs and Independent Reviewing Officers is 

being strengthened. The use of established alert processes is being 
reinforced and monitored. 

Recommendations Six
 Take immediate action to ensure that management oversight and supervision 

are strengthened and that all work is recorded appropriately to an acceptable 
standard.

Summary of action
 New requirements for recording management oversight and supervision are 

being introduced with immediate effect. Managers are being briefed on their 
new responsibilities. 

Recommendation Seven
 Urgently improve the quality and timeliness of services to children who are at 

risk of becoming involved in gangs and serious youth violence. Ensure the 
alignment of services with those for children who go missing and those who 
are vulnerable to sexual exploitation and radicalisation. Ensure that 
comprehensive and accurate intelligence and data inform services 
developments.

Summary of action
 Further detailed training in respect to the relationships between gang 

affiliation, violent crime, children who go missing and children vulnerable to all 
crime will be made available to all staff. Close monitoring of the most high risk 
children will be implemented with immediate effect. Learning from monitoring 
will inform further development.  

Recommendations Eight
 Ensure that risks to children who go missing from home or care are assessed 

by social workers and their managers, and that all missing children are offered 
a return to home interview within 72 hours.

Summary of action
Established processes for managing children who go missing are to be 
implemented immediately. All children who go missing will be offered a Return 
Home Interview within 72 hours. Those who decline will have the reasons for 
this clearly recorded and understood. 

Recommendation Nine
 Take urgent steps to ensure that social workers and managers receive 

relevant training to counter child sexual exploitation, and that children 
identified as at risk of sexual exploitation are subject to risk assessment and 
offered responsive and appropriate help.

Summary of action

Page 8



5

Specific and detailed training on the risks posed to children who are subject to 
CSE will be offered to all staff. This will be completed by October 2017. 

Recommendation Ten
 Review the arrangements for private fostering to ensure that practice is 

compliant with statutory requirements, that assessments include relevant 
information and that reviews are meaningful and timely.

Summary of action
 All children who are privately fostered will be identified and subject to a 

revised system to ensure that their reviews are timely and their needs fully 
met. 

Recommendation Eleven
 Ensure that children benefit from effective and timely processes under the 

Public Law Outline that addresses all the risks for children, and are thorough 
and well managed.

Summary of action
 A revised system is being introduced to rigorously manage cases subject to 

the Public Law Outline. This will ensure that work is completed within statutory 
timescales and the work on this has already started.  

Recommendation Twelve
 Urgently address the sufficiency of emergency and unplanned placements so 

that children’s needs can be met appropriately when they become looked 
after.

Summary of action
 Work is underway to reduce the necessity of emergency placements. The 

borough’s sufficiency strategy is being reviewed to ensure availability and 
choice of appropriate placements. 

Recommendations Thirteen and Fourteen 
 Improve the quality of child permanence reports to ensure that all areas are 

fully evidenced, including details of all brothers and sisters and relevant 
medical information

 Ensure that the agency decision maker reads and considers all adoption 
panel paperwork, panel minutes and recommendations before reaching her 
decisions, and clearly records her own reasons for the decisions made.

Summary of action
Revised requirements in respect of permanency reports will be introduced 
alongside improved monitoring and compliance. There is increased capacity 
at Divisional Director level to ensure that the agency decision maker has 
capacity to consider all paperwork and record decisions. 

Recommendation Fifteen

Page 9



6

 Implement the workforce strategy as swiftly as possible to improve workforce 
stability and capacity. Undertake training needs analysis to ensure that the 
workforce is appropriately trained in order to achieve improvements and 
consistency in the quality of practice.

Summary of action
 Implementation of the Workforce Strategy is a priority. This will target 

increased recruitment, a decreasing reliance of agency staff and a 
comprehensive training and development programme to ensure all staff are 
skilled to the highest levels. 

5. IMPROVEMENT ARRANGEMENTS

5.1 The Council has a maximum of 70 days following publication of the report to 
submit a “written statement of action” to the Secretary of State and Ofsted 
HMCI. 

5.2 The improvement plan will need to reflect the recommendations detailed in 
the report and will be reviewed by Ofsted to ensure this is the case. The 
improvement plan is developing under four main headings which are:

 A robust model of social work practice
 A sufficient and skilled workforce
 Quality assurance and audit
 Leadership, management and governance 

5.3 A Children’s Services Improvement Board (CSIB) is being established to take 
forward the improvement work. This will meet every six weeks and for the first 
time on 24th April 2017. It will be independently chaired by Alan Wood, a 
former DCLG appointed Commissioner and former Director of Children’s 
Services. The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services along with the scrutiny 
lead will also be on the CS Improvement Board. The Independent Chair will 
produce a report to the DfE three months from the date of the Direction and 
every quarter thereafter. In addition, a DfE appointed Intervention Adviser, 
reporting and accountable to the Secretary of State, will be providing reports 
every six months following reviews to determine progress made improving its 
children’s social care services. 

5.4 To ensure transparency reports from the CS Improvement Board will be 
considered by the Council’s cross-party and public Best Value Improvement 
Board. This Board meets every quarter and chaired by the Mayor, John Biggs 
and attended by the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Cllr. John Pierce. It has 
responsibility for overall improvement across the Council. Reports from BV 
Improvement are submitted to DCLG every quarter from June 2017.

5.5 The improvement plan will need to be signed off by the Council’s Cabinet 
before it is submitted to the DfE. The process timeline for this will be:

Page 10



7

Note: dates are currently being scheduled.

5.6 When a local authority is judged to be inadequate, Ofsted will carry out a 
programme of monitoring activity to report on progress. Quarterly monitoring 
visits starting in the summer will take place to evaluate the progress made 
against the recommendations. We will then likely be subject to a full re-
inspection within two years of submitting our action (improvement) plan. 

4. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

4.1 It is recognised in this report that there are a number of improvement activities 
required to ensure that the desired outcomes for children and young people 
are delivered.  

4.2 Where this investment is off a one-off nature this will be secured from 
reserves and the CFO will need to be assured that the activities represent 
value for money and are affordable. Where there is a need for an on-going 
increase in expenditure, this will need to be considered as part of the 
Council’s future MTFS planning as it will impact on the Council’s overall 
financial position and again will need to demonstrate VFM, be affordable and 
demonstrate sustainable improvement to the service.

4.3 During the 2017/18 budget setting process significant additional resources 
were made available to the service, recognising that some savings from 
previous years did not support the approach to improving services that had 
already been identified.

Page 11



8

4.4 It is vital that the CSIB exercises strong governance over the financial 
resources that have been and will continue to be made available for both the 
one off investments and any future ongoing funding commitments. In addition 
the management of these resources within the Children’s Services Directorate 
will continue to be subject to the Council’s normal budget management 
processes including reporting on a quarterly basis to the Cabinet and affording 
the OSC the opportunity to challenge and review.

5. LEGAL COMMENTS 

5.1 The Council is required by section 9F of the Local Government Act 2000 to 
have an Overview and Scrutiny Committee and to have executive 
arrangements that ensure the committee has specified powers.  Consistent 
with this obligation, Article 6 of the Council’s Constitution provides that the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee may consider any matter affecting the area 
or its inhabitants and may make reports and recommendations to the Full 
Council or the Executive in connection with the discharge of any functions.  It 
is consistent with the Constitution and the statutory framework for the 
Executive to provide a response and it is reasonable for the Committee to be 
provided with progress updates.  

5.2 The framework for Ofsted inspections of Children’s Services is set out in 
sections 135-142 of the Education and Inspection Act 2006 (‘the Act’) and 
associated Employment and Education Act 2006 (Inspection of Local 
Authorities) Regulations 2007 (‘the Regulations’). Pursuant to section 136 of 
the Act, on receipt of the Ofsted report, the Council is required to publish the 
report within 30 days by sending a copy to each of its safeguarding partners, 
as well as a local newspaper and radio station (Regulation 2). The Council 
then has 70 days to publish a written statement of the actions it intends to 
take in light of the report of the report  within 70 days of receipt of the report 
(‘the Inspection Improvement Plan’) (Regulation 3).  

5.3 Ofsted’s  “Framework and evaluation schedule for the inspections of services 
for children in need of help and protection, children looked after and care 
leavers and Reviews of Local Safeguarding Children’s Boards” (‘the SIF’) sets 
out a single assessment framework for assessing local authorities during 
inspections conducted under section 136 of the Act. Local authorities are 
graded outstanding, good, requires improvement or inadequate in each of the 
areas inspected.  

5.4 The SIF notes that a rating of inadequate indicates: “There are widespread or 
serious failures that create or leave children being harmed or at risk of harm 
and/or the welfare of looked after children is not safeguarded and promoted.” 
(para. 31)

5.5 In light of the Council’s rating of inadequate in 2 out of the 3 areas assessed, 
Ofsted’s “Monitoring and re-inspection of local authority children’s services 
judged inadequate” guidance will apply. Ofsted will carry out a programme of 

Page 12



9

monitoring activities, including quarterly monitoring visits, to report on the 
progress made by local authorities.

5.6 The Council must arrange an action planning visit between 25 and 35 days 
after receipt of Ofsted’s report, which an Ofsted inspector will attend. Ofsted’s 
quarterly monitoring visits will evaluate the progress made against the 
recommendations since the inspection and check that there is no decline in 
other areas (para. 5).

5.7 Ofsted’s lead inspector will review the Inspection Improvement Plan as soon 
as possible after receipt to check that it reflects the recommendations 
contained in the inspection report (para, 21.) As the Council has an early draft 
of its Inspection Improvement Plan, the Director of Children’s Services should 
share this with the lead inspector before the action planning visit to assist 
planning (para.15). 

5.8 The first monitoring visit will usually be within four weeks of the submission 
deadline for the Council’s Inspection Improvement Plan (para.24). In advance 
of the visits, the inspector may ask the Council to audit cases, or to request 
information about up to six cases that have already been audited by the local 
authority. The Council will be asked to return the completed audits at least 
three working days before the monitoring visit (para. 28). Inspectors will 
produce a brief report about their findings and, in particular, their evaluation of 
the Council’s progress. Other than the report arising from the first monitoring 
visit, these will be published (paras. 41-42).

5.9 Ofsted will usually re-inspect a local authority judged inadequate at its last 
inspection within two years of it submitting its action plan, usually after at least 
four quarterly monitoring visits. Because the Council has been found to be 
inadequate overall, this will involve a full repeat SIF, although this will be 
shorter that the initial SIF as inspectors will take into account information 
gathered during monitoring visits (paras. 50-52).

5.10 If the inspection determines that the Council remains inadequate, the 
monitoring process in section one of this guidance will start again. The 
Secretary of State may also consider appointing a Children’s Services 
Commissioner or remove service control from the Council (para. 68).

6. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS

6.1 The Ofsted inspection looked at the experiences of some of the most 
vulnerable children and young people in the borough. The inspection found 
that those children and young people are not always receiving the services 
they deserve. The Council’s response to the inspection findings needs to 
ensure that vulnerable children and families receive the best services 
possible.  

7. BEST VALUE (BV) IMPLICATIONS

Page 13



10

7.1 The findings of the inspection suggest the Council, in a number of areas, is 
falling well short of delivering best value in its services to children and young 
people. This will be a focus through all four themes of the improvement plan. 

8. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT

8.1 None identified. 

9. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

9.1 The Council will need to demonstrate improvement at the quarterly 
improvement visits which will start in the summer. There will need to be 
appropriate challenge and rigour in developing and implementing the 
improvement plan to ensure progress is made and positive impact on the lives 
of children and young people can be demonstrated. 

10. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The report contains a specific recommendation to improve the quality and 
timeliness of services for children who are at risk of becoming involved in 
gangs and serious youth violence. This will require close working with our 
partners. 

____________________________________

Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents

Linked Report
 NONE

Appendices
 NONE

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended)
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report
List any background documents not already in the public domain including officer 
contact information.
 NONE

Officer contact details for documents:
 Layla Richards x2364

Page 14



 

 

 1 

London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
Inspection of services for children in need of help and 
protection, children looked after and care leavers 

and  

Review of the effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board1   

Inspection date: 23 January to 16 February 2017 

Report published: 7 April 2017 

 

Children’s services in Tower Hamlets are inadequate 

1. Children who need help and protection Inadequate 

2. Children looked after and achieving 
permanence 

Requires improvement 

 
2.1 Adoption performance Requires improvement 

2.2 Experiences and progress of care leavers Requires improvement 

3. Leadership, management and governance Inadequate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                           

 
1 Ofsted produces this report under its power to combine reports in accordance with section 152 of 

the Education and Inspections Act 2006. This report includes the report of the inspection of local 

authority functions carried out under section 136 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and the 
report of the review of the Local Safeguarding Children Board carried out under the Local 

Safeguarding Children Boards (Review) Regulations 2013. 

Page 15



 

 

   
 

2 

Executive summary 

There are widespread and serious failures in the services provided to children who 
need help and protection in Tower Hamlets. As a result, too many children remain in 
situations of actual or potential harm for too long. Insufficient scrutiny by the chief 
executive, the director of children’s services (DCS) and politicians has meant that 
they did not know about the extent of the failures to protect children until this 
inspection. In the majority of cases referred to them by inspectors, managers and 
leaders had to take immediate action to ensure that children were safe, that their 
needs were met and that plans to safeguard them were progressed appropriately. In 
addition, as a result of identifying current risks to children, inspectors requested that 
the local authority review several aspects of the service urgently, including private 
fostering arrangements, care leavers in custody, the arrangements for the Public Law 
Outline (PLO) and the psychosocial team meetings.   

Services for children in care or who need to be adopted and those for young people 
leaving care are not yet good enough. Some services have significantly deteriorated 
since the last inspection of children’s services published in 2012, when the local 
authority was found to be good overall with outstanding features. The DCS took up 
an interim position in July 2015 before her permanent appointment in March 2016. 
Despite uncovering a deeply worrying picture regarding the services provided to 
children, there has been insufficient rigour by senior leaders in challenging weak 
management oversight. When changes have occurred, progress has been limited or 
not sustained, and improvements remain fragile. Senior leaders have accepted the 
inspection findings and are determined to improve outcomes for children. 
  
A significant challenge facing the local authority is instability in the children’s 
workforce. Staff turnover overall has reduced slightly, but in the assessment and 
intervention team it has significantly increased, from 10% in 2015 to 30% in 2016. 
An improvement and inspection board established in September 2016 has had 
limited impact. The board lacks an overarching strategic plan to systematically drive 
the extensive change required. This is a serious omission by senior leaders.  

Performance management and quality assurance systems are not underpinned by 
reliable management information. This is largely due to social workers and managers 
not updating records on the electronic recording system. Many assessments and 
plans are of poor quality. Senior leaders have not been effective in challenging the 
entrenched culture of non-compliance with basic social work standards. The local 
authority as a whole has failed to ensure professional accountability and, as a result, 
too many children have remained in neglectful and abusive situations for too long. 

Inspectors found a lack of understanding of what constitutes a private fostering 
arrangement. Superficial assessments failed to consider whether children had been 
trafficked or abandoned by their parents, and basic safeguarding checks were not 
conducted in most cases. 

Page 16



 

 

 3 

The application of statutory thresholds is inconsistent. This is apparent from the first 
point of children’s services intervention, including out-of-hours services, core 
safeguarding activity such as section 47 enquiries, child protection investigations and 
entry to care. Strategy discussions do not include all relevant agencies. 

Too many children spend an extensive period at the pre-care proceedings stage, with 
no review or progress against agreed actions. Consequently, some children and 
young people who need to be in care wait for too long. This leaves too many at risk 
of significant harm. When children do come into care, planning improves for most of 
them. This is despite the significant increase in care proceedings and numbers of 
children now in care, as a recognition of the previously high threshold. Children who 
are adopted or looked after or care leavers receive better and more consistent 
support. Stronger social work practice in discrete areas enables more children to 
settle and to have appropriate plans made for them. Many social workers visit 
children in care within statutory timescales. Children in care and care leavers report 
positive relationships with staff. 
 
The timeliness of adoption is improving, and adopters are positive about the service 
that they receive. Prospective adopter reports and child permanence reports vary in 
quality. The agency decision-maker’s scrutiny and oversight of adoption panel 
recommendations for children being adopted are not sufficiently effective, as a lack 
of capacity means that some reports are not read prior to decisions being made. 
 
The local authority and its partners have been effective in prioritising and developing 
a strategic response to child sexual exploitation and actively delivering services to 
counter the risk to children from radicalisation and female genital mutilation. A wide 
range of awareness raising has taken place in the community. However, operational 
social work practice to tackle sexual exploitation is weak. The local authority 
recognises that it needs to understand better the connections between child sexual 
exploitation, missing children, youth violence, gangs and radicalisation.  
 
An extensive range of services are commissioned to support children in the 
community. Effective monitoring and advice in relation to some complex cases take 
place through a well-established multi-agency social inclusion panel. 
 
There is a wide range of resources and multi-agency working to support children 
who have disabilities. The local authority has good systems for identifying and 
recording those children who go missing from education. Headteachers in Tower 
Hamlets understand well the processes for monitoring and reporting absenteeism 
from schools. 
 
There is strong partnership working between the multi-agency public protection 
arrangements and multi-agency risk assessment conferences (MARAC). MARACs take 
place every two weeks. They are well attended by relevant partner agencies, and 
there is timely reporting on actions. 
 

Page 17



 

 

   
 

4 

The prevention of violent extremism team has developed an extensive knowledge of 
radicalisation. Skilled workers have a detailed understanding of the issues facing 
children in Tower Hamlets. 

Page 18



 

 

 5 

Contents 
Executive summary 2 

The local authority 6 

   Information about this local authority area 6 

Recommendations 9 

Summary for children and young people 11 

Inspection findings 13 

The experiences and progress of children looked after and achieving 
permanence 17 

Leadership, management and governance 26 

The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 31 

Executive summary 31 

Recommendations 32 

Inspection findings – the Local Safeguarding Children Board 32 

Information about this inspection 36 

 
 
 

  

Page 19



 

 

   
 

6 

The local authority 

Information about this local authority area2 

Previous Ofsted inspections  

 The local authority operates one children’s home, which was judged to be good 
at its most recent Ofsted inspection. 

 The last inspection of the local authority’s safeguarding arrangements was in July 
2012. The local authority was judged to be good. 

 The last inspection of the local authority’s services for children looked after was in 
July 2012. The local authority was judged to be good. 

Local leadership  

 The DCS has been in post since March 2016, following eight months as the 
interim DCS. 

 The chief executive has been in post since October 2015. 

 The chair of the Local Safeguarding Children Board has been in post since 
October 2016. 

 The local authority uses the ‘Signs of Safety’ model of social work. 

Children living in this area 

 Approximately 65,000 children and young people under the age of 18 years live 
in Tower Hamlets. This is 22% of the total population in the area. 

 Approximately 34% of the local authority’s children aged under 16 years are 
living in low-income families.  

 The proportion of children entitled to free school meals: 

 in primary schools is 33% (the national average is 15%) 

 in secondary schools is 42% (the national average is 13%). 

 Children and young people from minority ethnic groups account for 81% of all 
children living in the area, compared with 22% in the country as a whole. 

 The largest minority ethnic groups of children and young people in the area are 
Asian or Asian British and Black or Black British. 

 The proportion of children and young people who speak English as an additional 
language: 

 in primary schools is 75% (the national average is 20%)  

                                           

 
2 The local authority was given the opportunity to review this section of the report and has updated it 

with local unvalidated data where this was available. 

Page 20



 

 

 7 

 in secondary schools is 71% (the national average is 16%). 

 Tower Hamlets is a very diverse borough and has the highest level of deprivation 
in England (the ‘Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index 2016’).  

Child protection in this area 

 At 31 January 2017, 3,149 children had been identified through assessment as 
being formally in need of a specialist children’s service. This is an increase from 
2,895 at 31 March 2016. 

 At 31 January 2017, 401 children and young people were the subject of a child 
protection plan (a rate of 62 per 10,000 children). This is an increase from 298 
(46 per 10,000 children) at 31 March 2016. 

 At 31 January 2017, 18 children lived in a privately arranged fostering placement. 
This is a reduction from 22 at 31 March 2016. 

 In the two years before inspection, six serious incident notifications were 
submitted to Ofsted, and two serious case reviews (SCRs) were completed. 

 There were two SCRs ongoing at the time of the inspection. 

Children looked after in this area 

 At 31 January 2017, 333 children were being looked after by the local authority 
(a rate of 51 per 10,000 children). This is an increase from 305 (47 per 10,000 
children) at 31 March 2016. 

Of this number: 

 275 (83%) live outside the local authority area 

 25 live in residential children’s homes, of whom 80% live out of the 
authority area 

 three live in residential special schools3, all of whom live out of the 
authority area 

 243 live with foster families, of whom 81% live out of the authority area 

 eight live with parents, of whom three live out of the authority area 

 32 are unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. 

 In the past 12 months: 

 there have been 12 adoptions 

 21 children became subject to special guardianship orders 

 196 children ceased to be looked after, of whom 9% subsequently 
returned to be looked after 

                                           

 
3 These are residential special schools that look after children for 295 days or less per year. 

Page 21



 

 

   
 

8 

 four young people ceased to be looked after and moved on to 
independent living 

 no young people ceased to be looked after and are now living in houses 
in multiple occupation. 

  

Page 22



 

 

 9 

Recommendations 

1. Take immediate action to ensure that work with children and their families is 
compliant with basic practice standards and that poor practice is challenged 
across all service areas.  

2. Take steps to ensure that thresholds are consistently applied and that children 
requiring statutory intervention receive it. 

3. Ensure that strategy discussions include all relevant agencies and that robust 
arrangements are in place to protect children while child protection 
investigations take place. 

4. Improve the quality of assessments and plans for children to ensure that 
purposeful work takes place to prevent drift, and to protect children in need of 
help and protection and children in care.  

5. Ensure that independent reviewing officers (IROs) and child protection chairs 
provide sufficient challenge to plans. 

6. Take immediate action to ensure that management oversight and supervision 
are strengthened and that all work is recorded appropriately to an acceptable 
standard. 

7. Urgently improve the quality and timeliness of services for children who are at 
risk of becoming involved in gangs and serious youth violence. Ensure the 
alignment of those services with those for children who go missing and those 
who are vulnerable to sexual exploitation and radicalisation. Ensure that 
comprehensive and accurate intelligence and data inform service 
developments.  

8. Ensure that risks to children who go missing from home or care are assessed 
by social workers and their managers, and that all ‘missing’ children are 
offered a return home interview within 72 hours. 

9. Take urgent steps to ensure that social workers and managers receive 
relevant training to counter child sexual exploitation, and that children 
identified as at risk of sexual exploitation are subject to a risk assessment and 
offered responsive and appropriate help. 

10. Review the arrangements for private fostering to ensure that practice is 
compliant with statutory requirements, that assessments include relevant 
information and that reviews are meaningful and timely.  
 

11. Ensure that children benefit from effective and timely processes under the 
PLO that address all risks for children and are thorough and well managed. 
 

12. Urgently address the sufficiency of emergency and unplanned placements so 
that children’s needs can be met appropriately when they become looked 
after.  

Page 23



 

 

   
 

10 

 
 

13. Improve the quality of child permanence reports to ensure that all areas are 
fully evidenced, including details of all brothers and sisters and relevant 
medical information. 
 

14. Ensure that the agency decision-maker reads and considers all adoption panel 
paperwork, panel minutes and recommendations before reaching her 
decisions and that she clearly records her own reasons for the decisions made. 
 

15. Implement the workforce strategy as swiftly as possible to improve workforce 
stability and capacity. Undertake a training needs analysis to ensure that the 
workforce is appropriately trained in order to achieve improvements and 
consistency in the quality of practice. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

  

Page 24



 

 

 11 

Summary for children and young people 

 Inspectors found that services to children in Tower Hamlets have become 
worse since the inspection in 2012. This means that children who need help 
and protection do not always have the right help to keep them safe.  

 
 Managers do not always check that social workers are doing what they should 

to make sure that children and families receive the help that they need quickly 
enough.  

 
 Sometimes, social workers do not talk to all the people who have important 

information to help them to decide the best thing to do.  
 

 Some children are left in unsafe situations for too long. Once the decision has 
been made for them to be looked after by the local authority, planning 
improves. Children who are adopted, children in care and care leavers have 
better support.  

 
 Most children in care live in good foster homes, but there are not enough 

families who can offer homes to older children.   
 

 Children living with family members and foster carers are generally settled. 
They are helped to keep in touch with their families if they cannot return 
home. Children have good support if they are sad or worried. They enjoy 
learning, and many are doing well at school.  

 
 The Children in Care Council provides children with direct access to leaders in 

the local authority. Children suggest changes and improvements that they 
believe will make things better for children looked after. The Children in Care 
Council is actively seeking the involvement of younger children through the 
development of the Young Stars group.  

 
 Care leavers are positive about the support that they have from their personal 

advisers. They like the warm, positive and safe environment at the care-
leaving service centre.   

  

Page 25



 

 

   
 

12 

The experiences and progress of 
children who need help and 
protection 

Inadequate 

Summary 

Services to children in need of help and protection in Tower Hamlets are 
inadequate. Serious and widespread failings across all core social work teams, 
including the early help hub, the multi-agency safeguarding hub (MASH), 
assessment and intervention, and family support and protection teams, leave 
children at risk of harm. These failings are characterised by weak managerial 
oversight at all levels. The local authority has not ensured that basic social work 
practice is of a good enough standard. Managers, including child protection chairs, 
do not provide sufficient overview or challenge of social work practice. As a result, 
children do not receive timely responses to ensure that risks and needs are met. 
 
Inspectors identified over 25 cases in which the needs of children in need of help 
and protection had not been recognised or robustly assessed. Senior managers 
took immediate action to address the concerns and to review a number of services 
as a result of inspection findings. 
 
An inconsistent application of thresholds for statutory intervention and a lack of 
recognition of risk are common features in too many children’s cases. There is 
chronic drift and delay at too many points of intervention, including for children 
who need statutory intervention, child protection enquiries, return home interviews 
or children who are subject to pre-proceedings work. Overall, assessments lack 
sufficient consideration of previous history, and the analysis of risk is poor. The 
majority of plans are weak and lack focus on the outcomes for children. This leads 
to a lack of purposeful and effective work, leaving children without the support 
that they need. The response to children at risk of sexual exploitation or who go 
missing is not good enough. The risks are minimised in a significant number of 
children’s cases. Too many return home interviews do not take place or are too 
late, leaving children at continuing risk of harm.  
 
There is a lack of understanding of what constitutes a private fostering 
arrangement, leaving children at risk.  
 
An extensive range of services are commissioned to support children in the 
community. Intensive monitoring and advice in relation to complex cases take 
place through an effective, well-established, multi-agency social inclusion panel. 
There is a wide range of resources and multi-agency working to support children 
who have disabilities. The local authority has good systems for identifying and 
recording those children who go missing from education. Headteachers in Tower 
Hamlets understand well the processes for monitoring and reporting absenteeism 
from schools. 

 

Page 26



 

 

 13 

 

Inspection findings  

16. Services for children in need of help and protection are inadequate. Senior 
managers were not aware of the extent of the serious failings until this 
inspection. These weaknesses have left children insufficiently protected from 
harm. Inspectors identified over 25 cases in which the needs of children in 
need of help and protection had not been recognised or robustly assessed. In 
addition, senior managers needed to take urgent action to ensure that 
children and young people were safe in several service areas identified by 
inspectors. 

 
17. The local authority has very recently improved its early help provision to 

children and families through the creation of an early help hub. The hub 
provides a telephone advice line, facilitates access to services and supports 
professionals in completing early help assessments. Intensive monitoring and 
advice in relation to complex cases take place through an effective multi-
agency social inclusion panel. However, in cases seen by inspectors, there is 
limited impact on improving outcomes to avoid problems escalating. Early help 
assessments sampled by inspectors are overly focused on educational issues 
and behaviour. Too many lack essential information to ensure that children 
and families receive effective support. 
 

18. Responses to contacts and referrals from the public and partner agencies have 
recently improved, and the majority of decisions are now made within 24 
hours. A review of the MASH in March 2016 resulted in action to address 
serious deficits. However, the application of statutory thresholds remains 
inconsistent. This is particularly evident for children living in situations of 
domestic abuse and children at risk of sexual exploitation. Inspectors referred 
to senior managers a number of children’s cases that had been either stepped 
down to early help services or closed to the MASH, even though the threshold 
for statutory services had been met, because children were not receiving the 
right level of support and protection at the right time. Senior managers 
responded quickly to the inspection findings, and actioned a review of all 
domestic abuse referrals made to the early help hub to ensure that children 
were receiving the appropriate services.  
 

19. While strategy discussions are mostly timely, not all relevant agencies are 
involved, which means that vital background information is not available to 
inform effective decision-making.  
 

20. Overall, the timeliness of assessments has improved from a low base. 
However, the assessment quality is poor, risk is not rigorously analysed, and 
there is insufficient consideration of children’s historical information and their 
ethnic and cultural needs. The voice of the child and that of parents are 
evident in the majority of assessments, but direct work with children to 
understand their lived experiences is weak. Management oversight of 

Page 27



 

 

   
 

14 

assessments is poor and does not provide sufficient action to ensure that 
children receive timely help and protection.  
 

21. Too many child in need plans and child protection plans are inadequate. The 
objectives of the work are not clear, timescales are vague and children’s 
voices are not evident. Social workers do not visit children regularly enough. 
Core group meetings include relevant professionals, but do not ensure that 
plans systematically measure progress. This leads to a lack of purposeful and 
effective work. There is a lack of urgency and understanding of risk, and too 
many children experience unacceptable drift and delay. Managers do not act 
quickly enough to address this, adding to the delay and leaving children in 
situations of actual or escalating risk of harm.  
 

22. Child protection conference chairs do not have sufficient oversight and do not 
provide appropriate challenge. Most chairs acknowledged to inspectors that 
they are not good at recording concerns. They do not always use the formal 
alert system to challenge poor practice and, instead, have informal 
conversations with social workers and managers. There is no monitoring of 
agreed actions from informal conversations until the next review conference, 
which could be six months ahead. This adds to the drift and delay experienced 
by too many children.  
 

23. Despite an extensive review in November 2015, work to strengthen the PLO 
and pre-proceedings work remains poor. Thresholds for instigating the PLO 
remain inconsistent, which means that children subject to pre-proceedings 
letters spend extensive periods at this stage with no review. A lack of robust 
tracking, poor management oversight and inconsistent planning continue to 
hamper timely decision-making about applications for legal orders. This leaves 
too many children at risk of continuing or actual harm when they have met 
the threshold to be in care. 
 

24. Children living with neglect, parental substance misuse or domestic abuse wait 
too long to receive appropriate help. The deterioration in family relationships 
and escalation of emotional and behavioural difficulties increase children’s 
vulnerability to becoming involved in gang activity and serious youth violence. 
In a survey undertaken by the young mayor, children said that their 
overwhelming concerns are gang violence and associated postcode wars. The 
level of serious youth violence and knife injuries in Tower Hamlets is high. As 
a result, some children live in an environment of violence and fear.  
 

25. The arrangements and responses to the needs of children who go missing 
have been strengthened, with an operational panel in place and a 
commissioned service providing return home interviews. The ‘missing’ 
coordinator has recently taken responsibility for making all referrals for return 
home interviews. However, operational practice remains weak. Information 
sharing with the youth offending team is not well coordinated. Social workers 
do not consistently refer children for return home interviews. In just over half 

Page 28



 

 

 15 

of the cases seen by inspectors, there were no return home interviews, and 
there are delays to a significant number of those that do take place. As a 
result, the opportunity to uncover vital information, identify risks and take 
timely protective action is lost, leaving children at continuing risk. In most 
cases seen, social workers did not accurately record ‘missing’ episodes. This 
not only means that data is unreliable, but it also hinders management 
oversight, adding to delays and risks to children.  
 

26. The operational response and practice to tackle child sexual exploitation are 
weak. The child sexual exploitation coordinator’s work is separate from 
mainstream social work practice. Social workers and managers do not have 
sufficient understanding of sexual exploitation, and too many have not had 
essential training. Managers do not always comply with actions proposed by 
the child sexual exploitation coordinator. This results in continued risk to 
children.  
 

27. At the time of the inspection, 18 children were reported to be living in private 
fostering arrangements. Inspectors found a lack of understanding of what 
constitutes a private fostering arrangement. Superficial assessments had failed 
to consider whether children had been trafficked or abandoned by their 
parents. Basic safeguarding checks had not been conducted in most cases. 
The private fostering panel, designed to review all private fostering 
arrangements, had not met for 12 months. As a result, the risks to children 
were unknown, leaving children in potentially harmful situations. The local 
authority took immediate action to review each case when inspectors brought 
this to its attention. 
 

28. The local authority has good systems for identifying and recording those 
children who go missing from education. Headteachers in Tower Hamlets fully 
understand the processes for monitoring and reporting absenteeism from 
schools. Managers have good partnerships with other boroughs to share 
information about children coming to Tower Hamlets and children who are the 
authority’s responsibility but who are placed out of the borough. They have 
effective systems to oversee the missing child register. There are 133 children 
currently on the register, three of whom are children looked after. The local 
authority has good partnerships with schools, which effectively implement the 
protocols and processes for referral when a child is missing. In addition, the 
local authority has well-established safeguarding arrangements for children 
who are found to be in unregistered schools.  
 

29. Managers implement well-established and effective systems to monitor the 
170 children who are currently electively home educated. Of these children, 
68% are of primary school age and 32% are of secondary school age. The 
home education team at the authority keeps in touch with almost all families.  
 

30. The local authority arrangements for considering allegations or concerns about 
staff or volunteers are safe and effective. There is a comprehensive tracking 

Page 29



 

 

   
 

16 

system. The work is child focused, and strategy meetings are proportionate, 
independently chaired and inclusive of a range of appropriate agencies. There 
is evidence of effective links with faith communities and awareness raising in 
partnership with the Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB). 
 

31. There is a wide range of resources and multi-agency working to support 
children who have disabilities. Social workers in the children with disability 
team demonstrate child-centred practice and a good understanding of 
children’s needs. Assessments are comprehensive and include brothers and 
sisters. Children in need and child protection practice is satisfactory. Regular 
feedback sheets demonstrate that children and families are happy with the 
support that they receive. 
 

32. There is strong partnership working between the multi-agency public 
protection arrangements and MARACs. MARACs take place every two weeks, 
due to the high volume of serious domestic abuse incidents in the borough. 
MARACs are well attended by relevant partner agencies, and there is timely 
reporting on actions. However, inspectors found that too many children living 
in families affected by violence do not receive the appropriate level of help 
and protection. 
 

33. The prevention of violent extremism team has developed extensive knowledge 
of radicalisation. Skilled workers have a detailed understanding of the issues 
facing the children who live in the local authority. As a result, inspectors saw a 
number of examples of creative and sensitive work to engage families, 
thorough strategy discussions and child protection investigations to help to 
protect children from violent extremism. 

 
 

  

Page 30



 

 

 17 

The experiences and progress of children 

looked after and achieving permanence 
Requires improvement  

Summary 

Outcomes for children looked after are not yet consistently good enough. While 
recent decisions made to bring children into care are appropriate, too many take 
place in an emergency. Nevertheless, when children do come into care they are 
safer, and planning for them is better. 
 
Choice and availability of placements are limited, particularly in meeting older 
children’s needs. However, most children live within 20 miles of home in stable 
placements that meet their cultural, ethnic and religious needs. The fostering 
service is actively recruiting new carers, and it supports carers well. Care 
proceedings are effective for most children in progressing plans for permanence.   
 
Social workers see the majority of children regularly, but assessments, plans and 
direct work are variable in quality or are not clearly recorded. Inconsistent 
responses for some children at risk of sexual exploitation, involved with gangs and 
violence, or missing from care mean that their needs are not fully understood or 
met soon enough. The timeliness of initial health assessments is poor, but review 
health assessments and support for emotional well-being are well established. 
Almost all children have their care plans reviewed regularly by IROs, who know the 
children well. 
 
The majority of children in care attend good or outstanding schools. Personal 
education plans show an improvement in the setting and monitoring of targets, 
and a clearer picture of the child’s behaviour and emotional well-being.  
 
Corporate parenting is well established and the Children in Care Council is active, 
with effective plans in place to develop the Young Stars group. Annual events and 
activities are held to celebrate children’s achievements.  

Adoption is considered by the second statutory review for all children who cannot 
return home to their birth families. The local authority is successful in securing 
potential links for children who have complex needs. 

The care leavers’ service stays in touch with almost all of its care leavers. 
Accommodation in the borough is well established and safe. A small minority of 
care leavers have some particularly good outcomes and are accepted into training 
or higher education. Too few care leavers are aware of their entitlements, but they 
receive good support when they get into difficulty. 

 
  

Page 31



 

 

   
 

18 

Inspection findings 
 
34. At the time of the inspection, Tower Hamlets was looking after 333 children. 

For too many children, the decisions to look after them are not timely enough. 
This impacts on the local authority’s ability to keep them safe and to improve 
outcomes for them. Nevertheless, when children come into care they are 
safer, and planning for them improves. Better practice in discrete areas of the 
service results in more effective support and care, enabling children to settle 
and have appropriate plans made for them. 

 
35. In most cases, recent decisions to accommodate children are appropriate. 

However, decisions are often made in an emergency and are not timely 
enough or effectively planned to respond to significant escalating risks while 
children remain at home. For example, the local authority reported that, of 22 
children who became looked after in January 2017, only 10 admissions were 
planned. Three very young children had remained in a police station 
overnight, as there was no placement available. 

 
36. Services to children on the edge of care are in place, but they are fragmented 

and require consolidation to address the complexity of older children’s needs. 
A more systemic multi-agency service (Safer Lives) is due to be implemented 
in April 2017. Some children returning home from care do not receive 
sufficient support, leading to a small number returning to the care of the local 
authority.  

 
37. Effective management action when children are subject to care proceedings 

avoids unnecessary drift and delay. Parallel planning and permanence plans 
are progressed speedily for most children, and appropriate use is made of 
family group conferences, connected people and special guardians to ensure 
that children are placed permanently with family members who reflect their 
ethnic, cultural and religious backgrounds. There has been an increase in the 
number of special guardianship orders granted since 2015–16.   

 
38. Following action by the divisional director for children’s services in 2015 to 

tackle drift and delay, there has been a significant increase in children subject 
to care applications. The judiciary and the Children and Family Court Advisory 
and Support Service (Cafcass) report positive and effective relationships with 
the local authority. Timeliness of care proceedings, at 29 weeks, is 
consistently improving and is almost in line with the national average of 28 
weeks. An in-house parenting assessment team effectively manages and 
produces social work assessments, which the judiciary and Cafcass report to 
be of good quality. This means that, for most children subject to care 
proceedings, there are no delays in decision-making about their futures.  

 
39. Cases seen by inspectors evidence that social workers visit most children 

regularly and within statutory timescales, and the children who met with 
inspectors reported positive relationships with staff. However, for a large 

Page 32



 

 

 19 

majority of children, the quality of work undertaken needs to improve. Their 
wishes and feelings are not fully recorded on case files, and direct work with 
them is superficial. Management oversight is inconsistent and variable for too 
many children. For a minority of children, there is better practice, with 
evidence of good engagement and an appropriate focus on ethnic, religious 
and cultural issues and use of interpreters.  
 

40. Assessments seen by inspectors were not of good quality for most children, as 
they were not comprehensive or analytical enough, and some were either not 
in place or out of date. Not all assessments take account of the child’s history. 
A lack of understanding of risks for some older children means that their 
needs are not fully addressed. Care plans for most children are not specific 
enough. Better plans identify effective and timely care planning, particularly 
for younger children and those in care proceedings. 

 
41. Almost all children have their care plans regularly reviewed by IROs, who 

know them well. Caseloads for IROs are manageable. Managers are aware 
that current practice needs to improve further. Evidence of informal and 
formal escalations are appropriate, but escalations require more incisive 
challenge by IROs to improve social work practice further. 

 
42. The local authority reviewed section 20 arrangements effectively in January 

2016 and again in January 2017. The final confirmation of matching for a 
small number of children already living in long-term fostering placements is 
subject to delay, and means that these children do not benefit from the 
stability and emotional security that this will offer them. 

 
43. Children in care who are at risk of offending are provided with a designated 

case officer, who also works out of the borough, to ensure continuity of 
relationships. Bespoke commissioned services are available for children who 
have substance misuse problems. However, the response to children who are 
at risk of sexual exploitation, involved in gangs and violent behaviour or 
missing from care is insufficient, as risks are not always understood or fully 
analysed. Therefore, some children do not receive the correct level of help 
and support. 

 
44. The timeliness of initial health assessments is poor. For example, between 

April 2016 and January 2017 only 4.2% were conducted within expected 
timescales. Improvements to gain medical consent from birth parents when 
children first become accommodated are now in place to address this, but the 
impact is not yet evident. Performance of review health assessments is much 
better, at 85%, and both improvements to processes and an additional nurse 
are in place. The looked after children specialist nurse offers continuity to 
children and travels out of borough to achieve this. Emotional well-being and 
child and adolescent mental health service (CAMHS) support is well 
established. The ‘CAMHS in social care’ team offers timely and appropriate 
consultation and guidance to children and foster carers.  

Page 33



 

 

   
 

20 

 
45. There are insufficient local placements for children looked after and a lack of 

choice and availability, particularly for emergencies and unplanned 
placements. Inspectors saw evidence of the impact of this for children. For 
example, senior managers did not know that a child was in an unsafe 
placement until this was identified by inspectors. Placements for children who 
show challenging and complex behaviour do not always fully meet their needs. 

 
46. However, a large majority of children are placed with their brothers and 

sisters, with carers who meet their ethnic, religious and cultural needs. Long-
term placement stability is high. Contact arrangements with family members 
are well supported and supervised by trained staff. Children who met with 
inspectors reported that social workers had acted on their requests for 
changes to contact with family members. Children also reported being able to 
access sporting and educational activities and to benefit from interesting 
holiday experiences.  

 
47. Effective and specific fostering recruitment has led to an increase in the 

number of fostering households, but there is still a limited availability of 
placements for older children. Commissioning plans to improve residential 
provision have been developed with other nearby local authorities, but these 
plans will not address immediate pressures or priorities.    

 
48. The fostering service is well established and is mostly compliant with statutory 

guidance. There are some weaknesses in the timeliness and quality of 
fostering assessments, and delegated authority is not in place for all carers. 
Foster carers benefit from established support through relevant training, 
support groups and CAMHS consultations. The Mockingbird initiative provides 
linked foster carers with consistent peer support and promotes placement 
stability. 

 
49. Corporate parenting is well established, and the Children in Care Council is 

active and influential in suggesting and making changes to service 
developments. The new Young Stars group is in development. Appropriate 
annual celebratory events and activities, including a successful summer 
school, are in place. Advocacy services are available for children, and the 
independent visitor service offers positive support and opportunities to 12 
young people.  

 
50. Most children looked after (85%) attend good or outstanding schools. None 

attends an inadequate school. The recently appointed virtual school 
headteacher is improving the support that children looked after receive with 
their educational attainment and progress. In 2015–16, the large majority of 
children achieved good skills at the expected standard in English and 
mathematics by the end of primary school. By the end of key stage 4 at 
secondary school, a small minority of children achieved five good GCSEs, 
better than their peers nationally. However, at key stages 1 and 4, children’s 

Page 34



 

 

 21 

attainment remains too low. The very large majority (92%) of the authority’s 
children looked after go on to participate in post-16 education and training. 

 
51. The majority of personal education plans include a clear picture of the child’s 

progress, emotional well-being and behaviour. Targets for helping children to 
improve their skills are specific and useful. For a few children, there are delays 
in establishing a baseline of achievement at the start of secondary school. 
There is insufficient continuity and planning for children when they progress to 
post-16 education and training, and there is not enough clarity in plans about 
the impact of additional funding (the pupil premium). However, the virtual 
headteacher has good oversight of the strengths and areas for improvement. 

 
52. No child looked after was permanently excluded from school in 2015/16 and 

fixed-term exclusions were 8% in 2015/16, down from 12.2% in 2013/14. The 
proportion of children looked after who miss school due to authorised or 
unauthorised absences is around the average rate for England as a whole, 
according to the most recent published data in 2014/15.  
 

53. The local authority’s arrangements for alternative provision provide a good 
range of learning options and alternative strategies to help children looked 
after to re-engage in learning, both in and out of the borough. Currently, 
three children looked after attend alternative provision. 
 

 
54. Adoption is being considered by the second statutory review for all children 

who cannot return home to their birth families. Since April 2016, 10 children 
have been adopted whose profile shows a mix of ethnicities, brother and 
sister groups, or an age of over five years. The local authority is successful in 
securing potential links for children with complex needs or disabilities, and one 
child is currently placed under a foster-to-adopt arrangement.  

55. In most cases seen, permanency planning meetings are held regularly, 
ensuring that the progress of a search is kept under review. The local 
authority works well with the East London Adoption Consortium, the Adoption 
Register, Adoption Link and other agencies to exchange information and 
secure links for children and waiting adopters. 

56. Recent data shows that the timeliness of adoptions is improving, but it is still 
some way off national thresholds. As only a small number of children are 
adopted each year, a delay for one or two children can have a dramatic effect 
on timescales, and this has been the case in Tower Hamlets. The year to date 
figure for the average time between a child entering care and moving in with 
his or her adoptive family is 509 days. Although this is an improving picture, it 
is still behind the current threshold target of 426 days.  

The graded judgement for adoption performance is that it requires 
improvement 

Page 35



 

 

   
 

22 

57. The average time between a local authority receiving court authority to place 
a child and the local authority deciding on a match to an adoptive family also 
shows some recent improvement. The year to date figure of 233 days is close 
to the England average, but is still behind the threshold target of 121 days.  

58. The recruitment and preparation of prospective adopters are thorough. A 
range of information, guides and a website provide useful information 
regarding adoption. The preparation course, run in conjunction with the East 
London Adoption Consortium, is comprehensive and provides adopters with a 
good, basic understanding of the needs of adopted children. Adopters spoken 
with during the inspection talked of the value of the course, along with the 
learning that they had gained from guest speakers such as adopters, foster 
carers and birth parents.  

59. The quality of prospective adopter reports is too variable. While all reports 
seen were detailed and contained all required checks and references, 
assessments were not adequately quality assured. Some contained 
grammatical and recording errors, while others lacked sufficient analysis of 
prospective adopters’ history and experiences to assist workers in the 
matching process. Not all assessments are completed within the six-month 
timescale.  

60. Child permanence reports are of mixed quality. All reports seen consider 
various permanence options and reasons for an adoption recommendation. In 
the better-quality reports, social workers’ descriptions and observations bring 
children to life, along with detailed accounts of their birth family and origins. 
In the weaker reports, information such as evidence of adoption medicals, the 
medical adviser’s comments and details of brothers and sisters are missing. In 
these cases, accurate and up-to-date information is not available for children 
and adopters to assist them in understanding a child’s identity and history, 
either now or in the future. 

61. Overall, the quality of matching is effective. There have been no adoption 
disruptions since 2014–15. Adoption placement reports and adoption support 
plans clearly describe how adopters will meet a child’s needs and the support 
available. Adoption panel minutes reflect a thorough scrutiny of cases, with 
panel members asking relevant questions and providing clear reasons for 
recommendations. However, panel minutes also show that missing or 
muddled information is insufficiently challenged. This means that adoption 
paperwork is not updated to assist workers who are considering a match or to 
help children’s and adopters’ understanding of events.  

62. The agency decision-maker’s scrutiny and oversight of adoption panel 
recommendations are poor, as she is not reading the papers presented due to 
a lack of capacity. This means that she is not taking a sufficiently considered 
or thorough approach to lifelong and life-changing decisions. This also means 
that she is not able to form a view about the quality of the adoption panel’s 
recommendations or the quality of frontline practice.  

Page 36



 

 

 23 

63. In the small number of cases in which adoption decisions are reversed, there 
is no evidence that children’s looked after reviews are being held to change 
care plans, and no reports are being sent to the agency decision maker 
requesting that a decision is rescinded. This lack of oversight by team 
managers, independent reviewing officers and the agency decision maker 
means that these children’s permanence plans are being allowed to drift. 

64. A range of effective post-adoption support is provided, which includes the 
facilitation of direct contact, letterbox arrangements, birth records counselling 
and intermediary support. Requests for support from the agency or to the 
adoption support fund are detailed and well argued, resulting in financial and 
practical support to sustain permanence. 

65. Life-story books and later-life letters are of good quality. Life-story books start 
from where the child is now, and are beautifully presented with clear 
information regarding the new family, birth family and the adoption process. 
Later-life letters are sensitively written, with anecdotes and observations 
which bring the child’s history to life.  

66. Adopters who met with inspectors were positive regarding the preparation, 
assessment and support received from the agency, and all said that they 
would recommend Tower Hamlets to others.   

The graded judgement about the experience and progress of care leavers 
is that it requires improvement 

 
67. The care leaving service team is in touch with 98% of its care leavers (200 out 

of 204). Personal advisers know most of their care leavers well. Twenty-seven 
young people currently stay with foster carers after the age of 18 under the 
local authority’s arrangements for staying put. Personal advisers develop 
sustained working relationships with young people. 

68. The team is ambitious in its work to improve outcomes for care leavers. 
Personal advisers create a positive and safe environment at the care leaving 
service centre. They help young people to understand how to look after 
themselves, for example in developing skills such as cookery and money 
management, and support them if they need help. Care leavers said that 
these sessions have enabled them to understand better the importance of 
healthy eating and setting aside budgets for their daily and weekly necessities, 
such as food and utilities.  

69. A local authority audit in 2016 found that the service is not aspirational 
enough for some young people. This group of young people consists of 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking minors and young people who were left in 
neglectful and abusive environments in their early life and who became looked 
after in their adolescence. More work is needed to improve earlier joint 
planning and effective transition between the children in care and care leaving 

Page 37



 

 

   
 

24 

services. There are gaps in services. Some young people have difficulty 
accessing post-traumatic abuse work, for example, and there is ineffective 
work to prevent youth violence or involvement in gangs.  

70. Support to care leavers in custody (15 at the time of inspection) is variable 
and inconsistent. Young people in young offenders’ institutions, who will move 
to an adult prison at the age of 18, experience a decline in the level of support 
from the care leaving service. Personal advisers lack the necessary skills and 
knowledge to undertake the complex work. Therefore, young people are not 
adequately prepared for release with the ability to change their previous 
negative patterns of behaviour. In cases sampled by inspectors, all involving 
young people serving long sentences for serious youth violence, none had 
received effective help at the earliest point of need. Most had been displaying 
challenging behaviour from a young age, but their needs were unassessed, 
and poor intervention failed to recognise and prevent exploitation by gangs. 

71. Almost all care leavers have up-to-date pathway plans, and there are notable 
examples of good outcomes. However, many plans lack clarity on priorities 
and actions. Target setting is too often not specific enough, and too many 
deadline dates for actions are linked to the date of the next review rather than 
the needs of the young person. There is insufficient knowledge about care 
leavers’ prior educational achievements or barriers to learning in order to 
understand and identify their needs better. 

72. Team managers do not undertake routine quality assurance checks of 
pathway plans. The views of young people about their experiences are not 
sought. The majority of management oversight on cases is task and action 
focused. The analysis does not contextualise history and previous abuse or the 
impact on the young person’s emotions, behaviour, future risk-taking 
behaviours and outcomes. 

73. The care leaving service and the service for children looked after are now 
under a single service manager. The manager is building a stronger 
collaborative working relationship with the virtual school to establish better 
transition arrangements for young people, as they become care leavers. The 
local authority has recently employed a key stage 5 worker and a specialist to 
provide better advice and guidance on options for learning, post 16.  

74. In 2015–16, 58% of care leavers progressed to further or higher education, 
employment and training. This was above the average for England as a whole, 
but remains too low. The proportion has remained around this figure for the 
past three years. The care leaving service has well-established arrangements 
for helping young people, who may not have been successful in their learning, 
to find useful traineeships. Advisers provide good support for the small 
number of care leavers in higher education. In 2015–16, around 40% were 
not in education, employment or training, which is too high. However, 
managers have recognised this and have secured funding to expand work-
based learning opportunities.  

Page 38



 

 

 25 

75. Most care leavers live in suitable accommodation (94% in 2015–16), and 
personal advisers have helped to sustain this well, over time. The local 
authority has a good range of housing available at short notice, particularly in 
the borough, to support young people’s move towards independence. Personal 
advisers assess fairly when a young person is ready to move into independent 
accommodation. Almost all care leavers said that they feel safe in their 
accommodation.  

76. Insufficient availability of suitable accommodation outside the borough has 
resulted in a small number of young people living in unsuitable 
accommodation. The local authority is revising its commissioning 
arrangements with the intention of improving the service, particularly for out-
of-borough placements.  

77. Appropriate arrangements for mental health and health assessments are in 
place for young people coming into the care leaving service. The looked after 
children specialist nurse makes sure that they have documents on their health 
histories. When a young person has complex needs, the nurse who works with 
children looked after makes sure that the care leaver has access to health 
services in their local area. Emotional well-being for care leavers is 
appropriately considered, and support is available for them currently via 
consultation with CAMHS for children looked after. Plans for a new post for 
CAMHS, based in the care leavers’ service, are due for consideration in spring 
2017.  

78. Care leavers who met with inspectors presented a fair and balanced view of 
the service. They recognise the good work that the care leaving service does 
to support them. However, they did not know about either their legal 
entitlements or some aspects of the service well enough, such as the ‘pledge’ 
and the Children in Care Council. This concurs with the manager’s view that 
the service needs to be more user focused and that the young people need to 
be encouraged to have a more active role in shaping the service.  

  

Page 39



 

 

   
 

26 

Leadership, management and governance Inadequate 

Summary 

The leadership, management and governance of children’s services in Tower 
Hamlets are inadequate. The chief executive, DCS and elected members did not 
know about the extent of the failures to protect children from harm until this 
inspection. An inspection of safeguarding and looked after children services in July 
2012 judged services to be good with some outstanding features. Against a 
backdrop of significant instability and change in leadership at political, corporate 
and managerial levels, services have significantly declined, particularly for children 
in need of help and protection. A lack of critical enquiry, combined with an over-
reliance on inaccurate performance information and an over-optimistic self-
assessment, means that senior leaders and politicians have failed to take effective 
action, leaving children at risk of harm. 

An improvement and inspection board established in September 2016 has not been 
effective. It lacks an overarching strategic plan to drive the extensive change 
required. Political and operational leaders are not members of the board and do 
not have an accurate understanding of the weaknesses across the service. Leaders 
and managers are unable to assure themselves that children in Tower Hamlets are 
safe.  

At every level, the application of thresholds is inconsistent. Weaknesses in 
recording in children’s case files mean that it is impossible to understand how 
critical decisions about children’s lives are made or what has happened as the 
result of intervention. Performance management and quality assurance systems 
have not been effective in challenging the entrenched culture of non-compliance 
with basic social work standards. This is a corporate failure by the local authority 
that leaves too many children in neglectful and abusive situations for too long. 

The local authority and its partners have been more effective in prioritising and 
developing a strategic response to child sexual exploitation and actively delivering 
services to counter the risk to children of radicalisation and female genital 
mutilation. A wide range of awareness raising has taken place in the community. 
Nevertheless, more work is required to understand the crossover between child 
sexual exploitation, being missing, youth violence, gangs and radicalisation.  

Corporate parenting arrangements are a strength, and there is good engagement 
from children and young people. Political leaders have been effective in ensuring 
additional financial support in response to increasing demands across the service.  

Following this inspection’s findings, senior politicians and local authority leaders 
gave assurances that immediate action will be taken to protect children and that 
they will fully accept all inspection recommendations.  

 

Page 40



 

 

 27 

Inspection findings 
 
79. Inspectors identified serious and widespread failings across the service for 

children in need of help and protection. Services have deteriorated in all areas 
since the inspection of safeguarding and looked after children services in 
2012. Attempts to drive improvement have had little impact. Senior leaders 
have not accurately addressed critical weaknesses in management oversight 
or social work practice. As a result, elected members and senior leaders 
cannot be confident that children in Tower Hamlets are safe. 

80. The DCS took up an interim position in July 2015 before her permanent 
appointment in March 2016. Despite uncovering a deeply worrying picture 
regarding the services provided to children, actions taken to tackle some of 
the deficits, such as a review of the MASH, workforce development, increased 
child-level data and an improvement and inspection board, have not been 
sufficiently systematic or effective in addressing the widespread concerns, and 
consequently children in Tower Hamlets have been left at actual or potential 
risk. Senior managers and leaders have not been successful in delivering the 
changes quickly enough to tackle the deficits in frontline operational activity. 
When service improvements have occurred, they remain fragile and, in some 
areas, the progress has been too limited or not sustained. In response to the 

inspection findings, the current senior leadership team has demonstrated a 
determination and commitment to improve services. 

81. The divisional director’s span of responsibility is too broad to address the 
widespread and serious concerns. Consequently, senior managers were 
unaware of a number of serious and critical practice issues identified during 
the inspection, for instance babies and young children living with domestic 
violence. Further examples include children left unprotected and at risk of 
significant harm due to poor management oversight, and weak assessment 
and recognition of what constitutes a private fostering arrangement. In 
response to concerns raised by inspectors, the local authority took appropriate 
action to provide additional senior operational management capacity. This lack 
of capacity should have been identified and tackled sooner. 

82. During the five months prior to the inspection, the improvement and 
inspection board, chaired by an external consultant, has overseen a wide 
range of practice issues through monthly meetings. The board has had limited 
impact. While board minutes evidence detailed discussions about data and 
audit findings, the board lacks a coherent, overarching strategic plan to drive 
the change required. This impedes the local authority’s ability to track and 
evidence progress. Service plans are in place, but they lack sufficient detail 
regarding the delivery of key targets. Leaders are not held to account for 
improving services. The lack of involvement in the board by the DCS, the chief 
executive and the lead member has limited its effectiveness and contributed 
to a lack of corporate ownership of the shortfalls in services for vulnerable 
children. This is a serious omission.  

Page 41



 

 

   
 

28 

83. Senior managers have not been effective in addressing poor practice by first-
and second-line managers. An entrenched culture of non-compliance with 
basic social work standards continues to be a significant weakness. This has 
led to delays in progressing work effectively, which have left some children in 
situations of escalating and actual risk of harm. Inspectors identified a number 
of children for whom senior managers had to take immediate action to ensure 
their safety. 

84. At every level, the application of thresholds is inconsistent. This is apparent 
from the first point of children’s services intervention, including core 
safeguarding activity such as child protection investigations and entry to care. 
Children spend extensive periods in the pre-proceedings stage of the PLO, 
with no review or progress against agreed actions. As a result, too many 
children experience significant delay and remain in situations of risk for too 
long. Case recording by social workers and managers in many children’s case 
files is so poor that it is not possible to tell how decisions are reached 
regarding children’s lives or how intervention is reducing risk.   

85. Social work practice in response to the risks of child sexual exploitation is 
inconsistent. Social workers and managers lack an understanding of sexual 
exploitation and do not consistently use assessments to identify risk or focus 
plans on reducing vulnerabilities and improving outcomes for children. 
Inspectors identified a number of children for whom social workers had not 
recognised the potential signs of child sexual exploitation. This was 
particularly evident in the MASH and in the paediatric psychosocial hospital 
meeting, at which inspectors referred seven children’s cases back to the senior 
managers. This demonstrates that too many children are not having the 
protection and support that they need.  

86. The local authority and its partners have been more effective in prioritising 
and developing a strategic response to child sexual exploitation. A wide range 
of awareness raising has taken place in the community. However, more work 
is required to understand links between child sexual exploitation, being 
missing, youth violence, gangs and radicalisation. Children who go missing 
from home and care are a priority for the local authority and its partners. 
Nevertheless, too few children who go missing receive a return home 
interview. This is a missed opportunity to learn, understand and identify 
patterns and trends to reduce further incidents. 

87. The overview and scrutiny panel meets regularly and has appropriate cross-
party political attendance. The panel has considered a wide range of issues, 
including the Children and Families Plan, and the chair has led a 
comprehensive review on the ‘Prevent’ duty. However, scrutiny does not offer 
robust challenge to senior managers on the effectiveness of services for the 
most vulnerable children in Tower Hamlets. For example, the improvement 
and inspection plan has not been on the panel’s agenda, and members were 
not aware of its existence at the time of the inspection. 

Page 42



 

 

 29 

88. The collation and analysis of reliable performance information remain a 
challenge to the local authority. This is largely due to social workers and 
managers not updating records on the electronic recording system. Daily 
child-level data is now available to managers, and the local authority reports 
that this has led to some very recent improvements, but more work is 
required to ensure that measures are in place to understand performance in 
all areas. For example, the local authority does not report on children in need, 
and the performance information relating to missing children is inconsistent. 
This weakens the local authority’s capacity to analyse and respond to dips in 
performance. 

89. A quality assurance framework, relaunched in June 2016, provides a robust 
case auditing and management oversight model. However, it is not yet 
delivering much-needed scrutiny of performance management. This is due to 
non-compliance by managers in conducting audits, combined with a lack of 
understanding of what good practice looks like. There is no robust system in 
place to ensure that specific tasks from audits are consistently completed, 
resulting in continuing drift and delay for too many children. For example, an 
audit of section 47 child protection enquiries carried out in May 2016 identified 
significant weaknesses in safeguarding practice. These weaknesses included 
poor assessment of risk, an over-reliance on parental explanations and a lack 
of professional curiosity and judgement. These weaknesses continued to 
feature in a subsequent audit carried out in December 2016 and were 
common features in a number of cases seen by inspectors.  

90. A significant challenge facing the local authority is the instability in the 
children’s workforce, with high vacancy rates and use of agency staff at both 
social worker and manager levels, although overall vacancy rates are lower 
than the London average. Caseloads remain variable across the service, and 
the highest caseloads are in the assessment and early intervention teams. 
This has directly affected this area’s turnover of staff, which has increased 
significantly from 10% in 2015 to 30% in 2016. A draft workforce strategy 
(January 2017) has informed the children’s services transformation redesign, 
which is ready for implementation. The local authority expects to reduce 
caseloads to a maximum of 18 children, but, at the point of the inspection, 
this had not been achieved. 

91. An appropriate range of training is available to staff, but a training needs 
analysis has not been conducted, and there is no overall record of staff 
training. The local authority does not rigorously evaluate the impact of training 
to inform understanding regarding its effectiveness or enable it to focus 
attention on areas of the greatest priority. Most supervision records seen by 
inspectors contained brief records, and did not demonstrate reflection or 
challenge to poor social work practice. 

92. The local authority has a variety of commissioned and in-house services for 
children and families. Services commissioned are based on identified needs, 
informed by the joint strategic needs assessment (JSNA) and a separate 

Page 43



 

 

   
 

30 

safeguarding children’s factsheet. The local authority has agreed key priorities 
and has recently set up a joint executive commissioning group to take this 
work forward, in the absence of a commissioning strategy. Senior leaders and 
partners recognise that a more integrated approach is required from across 
the partnership to provide effective services and to improve outcomes for 
children and families. 

93. Established links are in place to the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB), the 
children and families partnership and the LSCB. The DCS is a member of all of 
these forums. The Children and Families Plan appropriately focuses on a range 
of key priorities for children. The JSNA has shaped the HWBB strategy. For 
example, a key priority is to develop an integrated system to strengthen 
commissioning arrangements at an operational level to support and prevent 
children coming into care. Children, led by the young mayor, have attended 
the board and directly influenced the CAMHS transformation plan, resulting in 
the clinical commissioning group changing the language used in its written 
materials regarding children with mental health issues. Further work is 
required to ensure greater collaboration between various boards, in particular 
the community safety partnership.  

94. The DCS was active in the recruitment and appointing of a new chair of the 
LSCB in October 2016. Links between the chief executive, DCS and lead 
member are clear, and there are regular, formally recorded meetings. The 
chief executive chairs bi-monthly corporate safeguarding meetings to ensure 
awareness of risks across the council. However, there are no formal links 
between this group and the improvement and inspection board, and this 
reduces the chief executive’s knowledge of frontline practice and impedes his 
understanding of the widespread and serious concerns.  

95. Corporate parenting arrangements are strong. The lead member chairs the 
corporate parenting board effectively and has good representation from 
elected members. Children looked after and care leavers attend and co-lead 
the meetings. The board utilises appropriate challenge to partners to improve 
services for children looked after and fulfils its responsibilities well. For 
example, the board endorsed a successful growth bid to increase the provision 
for the education and training needs of care leavers, organised a summer 
school and increased social activities with the Children in Care Council.  

96. Strong partnership work to counter the risk to children from radicalisation is 
having a positive impact. The preventing violent extremism team works with 
children and families and completes good-quality assessments and targeted 
work to reduce risks and improve outcomes for children.  

97. There has been effective work through community events, including a 
‘harmful practice’ conference, to raise awareness of female genital mutilation. 
The female genital mutilation specialist social worker has forged effective links 
with health and education, identifying 133 children who could be at risk. 

 

Page 44



 

 

 31 

The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 

The Local Safeguarding Children Board is inadequate 

 

Executive summary 

The LSCB in Tower Hamlets is judged to be inadequate, as it is not discharging all 
of its statutory functions. Insufficient monitoring of the quality of frontline practice 
has meant that the board was not aware of the failings to protect children until 
this review. An independent review of the board was commissioned by the DCS in 
September 2016. A new independent chair was appointed in late October 2016, 
with a view to responding to the findings and recommendations of the LSCB 
review. The chair is effectively refocusing the board’s priorities by increased 
scrutiny and challenge. 
 
The LSCB annual report 2015–16 provides an assessment of the effectiveness of 
local services and some analysis of their impact. It identifies three key priorities for 
the board in 2016–17, although without a clear rationale for their prioritisation with 
regard to competing issues. Further work is required to ensure synergy between 
various boards, in particular with the community safety partnership, to ensure 
tighter joint priorities and to reduce duplication. The board receives a quarterly 
performance report that highlights issues that require further understanding or 
analysis. The performance dataset requires refinement, and there is insufficient 
alignment to the board’s key business and priorities. There has been limited case 
file audit activity during 2016–17, impairing the board’s ability to be assured of the 
effectiveness of frontline practice with respect to the safeguarding of children at 
risk of sexual exploitation and neglect. However, funding for a data analyst is in 
progress, and the LSCB is undertaking an audit of harmful sexual behaviour, in 
partnership with the NSPCC. 
 
The board has developed a local profile of child sexual exploitation victims and 
trends, and delivered a wide range of awareness raising activities, including the 
recruitment of young safeguarding champions, to engage with schools with regard 
to sexual exploitation and associated risks. An essential profile of perpetrators and 
of the relationship between youth violence, gang activity and child sexual 
exploitation is not yet in place. 
 
The board has effective processes to review child deaths, serious incidents and 
cases of concern. Learning from SCRs has been widely shared, and partnership 
learning led to a review of threshold guidance and some positive service 
developments. The board has a thorough learning and improvement framework, 
following a comprehensive review of its priorities for learning, built from national 
and local findings from SCRs and thematic reviews. There is an extensive and well-
utilised multi-agency training offer. However, the board cannot yet demonstrate 
the impact of learning on frontline practice and outcomes for children. 

Page 45



 

 

   
 

32 

Recommendations 

 
 Urgently review monitoring and governance arrangements to ensure that the 

board is fulfilling all of its statutory functions. 

 Prioritise multi-agency monitoring of frontline practice to ensure that the 
board has effective awareness of the quality of practice and its impact on 
outcomes for vulnerable children.  

 Ensure that the business management capacity of the board is sufficient to 
meet the need.  

 Ensure that the board prioritises the response of the partnership to the issues 
of youth violence and gang activity and their relationship to child sexual 
exploitation, including the development of a comprehensive problem profile. 

 Ensure that the effectiveness of multi-agency training is monitored and 
evaluated, including training for staff in recognising and assessing risks to 
sexually exploited children. 

Inspection findings – the Local Safeguarding Children Board 

98. Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board is judged to be inadequate, as it 
is not effectively discharging all of its statutory functions. The relationship 
between the recently established executive board and the wider LSCB is not 
effective in facilitating the monitoring and evaluation of the impact of the 
board’s work programme, and there remains confusion over the differing 
functions and purpose of the two bodies.  

99. The board has an excessively large membership, limiting meaningful debate 
and effective decision-making. The lead member has not exercised her 
responsibility as a participating observer at board meetings since her 
appointment in May 2015, weakening her ability to scrutinise and hold the 
DCS to account. Board agendas are extensive, but are not sufficiently focused 
on the core business and key priorities. The new independent chair is 
reviewing the board’s governance arrangements, structure and membership. 
He is also seeking to ensure connected priorities across the community safety 
partnership, the Safeguarding Adults Board and the LSCB. There has been 
limited case file audit activity during 2016–17. Board member agencies have 
signed up to the pan-London information sharing protocol, but legitimate 
concerns with respect to information sharing and consent issues have delayed 
the completion of the two multi-agency case audits commissioned by the 
quality assurance and performance subgroup. Consequently, the board is not 
assured of the effectiveness of frontline practice with respect to the 
safeguarding of children at risk of sexual exploitation and neglect.  

100. The board has not ensured a timely oversight of key practice areas. The 
2015–16 annual private fostering report has yet to be considered. The annual 

Page 46



 

 

 33 

IROs’, child protection conference chairs’ and designated officer’s reports for 
2015–16 have yet to be presented, leaving the board insufficiently sighted on 
the effectiveness of these critical service areas. 

101. The LSCB website requires significant improvement, as much information is 
basic and it does not promote the work or function of the board to the wider 
community. This has long been recognised by the board, and progress has 
been too slow. 

102. The LSCB annual report 2015–16 provides an assessment of the effectiveness 
of local services and some analysis of their impact in respect of the nine 
2015–16 LSCB priorities. It identifies three key priorities for the board in 
2016–17, although without a clear rationale for their prioritisation. 

103. The LSCB has not has sufficient administrative capacity. Additional business 
support has recently been secured. The chair has appropriately identified that 
the additional capacity should be targeted to ensure that the board can deliver 
its core functions, in particular in the areas of governance and quality 
assurance. 

104. A thorough section 11 audit was undertaken in 2016, and the independent 
chair held meetings with each partner to hold them to account for the 
progress of actions identified. Thematic areas for improvement have been 
identified and progressed, for example in ensuring that commissioning 
arrangements include explicit reference to safeguarding responsibilities in line 
with section 11 standards, although compliance with this has not yet been 
tested. 

105. The performance dataset received by the board is too large and is not 
sufficiently focused on core business and key LSCB priorities. There is no 
performance dashboard in place to ensure the easy identification of trends. 

106. The board has undertaken innovative work in engaging with children and 
young people through the awareness raising and engaging communities 
(AREC) sub-group. Consultation with the youth council identified risks 
associated with social media as a major issue for children. This led to the 
active recruitment of young safeguarding champions. These children have 
been trained and supported by the National Society for the Prevention of 
Cruelty to Children (NSPCC) and the youth service, and are currently 
developing a social media awareness raising video, which they plan to take 
into schools during 2017. 

107. The AREC sub-group ensures that the board has an interface with the 
voluntary sector. The group collates and distributes a safeguarding calendar of 
key national and local safeguarding events and associated activities, and 
supports networking around the mutual sharing of safeguarding information 
and learning opportunities. For example, the group is coordinating a 
programme of events on and around the national child sexual exploitation 

Page 47



 

 

   
 

34 

awareness day. In addition, the LSCB holds a joint annual safeguarding 
awareness month in collaboration with the Safeguarding Adults Board. 

108. The board has a robust learning and improvement framework, which is 
appropriately ambitious and informs the board’s well-utilised training offer. 
The impact of learning on practice and on outcomes for children has not been 
evaluated. 

109. Learning from the ‘Troubled Lives, Tragic Consequences’ thematic review and 
the last two SCRs has been disseminated across the partnership, resulting in 
positive multi-agency collaboration. For example, CAMHS developed a new 
conduct disorder pathway, co-locating staff within children’s social care 
effectively and providing consultation for children who display harmful 
behaviours. However, the board has not been sufficiently rigorous in ensuring 
an effective partnership response to the safeguarding risks associated with 
youth violence and gangs, which have emerged from these reviews. 

110. The LSCB has an effective process in place to ensure the review of serious 
incidents and cases of concern. The case review sub-group ensures that the 
commissioning of learning, training and audit activity is linked to its findings. 
There is an effective child death overview panel (CDOP) that takes a proactive 
approach to identifying themes and issues emerging from its work. There is 
good multi-agency engagement, which supports the timeliness of reviews. 
Actions are tracked and monitored effectively. The CDOP annual report 2015–
16 identified that, when modifiable factors are identified, positive action has 
been taken to ensure that learning leads to appropriate preventative action.  

111. The board has a comprehensive child sexual exploitation strategy and action 
plan. However, the delay to the thematic case file audit has meant that the 
impact of the strategy on improving frontline practice remains unassessed. 
Progress against the action plan is reported on a quarterly basis to the board 
and, when appropriate, issues preventing progress are escalated. For 
example, the lack of a multi-agency sexual exploitation data analyst and 
intelligence officer limits the LSCB’s ability to understand the borough’s 
perpetrator profile and the links to youth violence and gang activity, or to 
ensure that activity and resources are appropriately targeted. This has been 
escalated, and a funding decision for an analyst post is awaited. 

112. The child sexual exploitation sub-group has developed a local profile of victims 
and trends in relation to the nature of exploitation activity. Together with the 
AREC sub-group, this has led to more targeted and focused work in key 
schools and greater emphasis on the increasing prevalence of online 
grooming. A wide range of activities have taken place to engage with 
communities to raise awareness of child sexual exploitation. Of particular note 
has been the engagement with imams and other community leaders to secure 
their promotion of awareness raising seminars being held in mosques, schools 
and other community venues. This has led to an increase in related referrals 

Page 48



 

 

 35 

in the borough, and consequently the identification of more children at risk of 
exploitation. 

Page 49



 

 

   
 

36 

Information about this inspection 

Inspectors have looked closely at the experiences of children and young people who 
have needed or still need help and/or protection. This includes children and young 
people who are looked after and young people who are leaving care and starting 
their lives as young adults. 

Inspectors considered the quality of work and the difference that adults make to the 
lives of children, young people and families. They read case files, watched how 
professional staff work with families and each other and discussed the effectiveness 
of help and care given to children and young people. Wherever possible, they talked 
to children, young people and their families. In addition, the inspectors have tried to 
understand what the local authority knows about how well it is performing, how well 
it is doing and what difference it is making for the young people whom it is trying to 
help, protect and look after. 

The inspection of the local authority was carried out under section 136 of the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006. 

The review of the Local Safeguarding Children Board was carried out under section 
15A of the Children Act 2004. 

Ofsted produces this report of the inspection of local authority functions and the 
review of the Local Safeguarding Children Board under its power to combine reports 
in accordance with section 152 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006. 

The inspection team consisted of eight of Her Majesty’s Inspectors (HMI) from 
Ofsted and one social care regulatory inspector. 

The inspection team 

Lead inspector: Brenda McLaughlin 

Deputy lead inspector: Linda Steele 

Team inspectors: Natalie Trentham, Louise Warren, Karen Wareing, Steve Stanley, 
John Roughton, Kate Malleson, Maire Atherton. 

Senior data analyst: Tania Corbin 

Quality assurance manager: Carolyn Adcock SHMI 

Page 50



 

 

 37 

Any complaints about the inspection or the report should be made following the procedures set out in 
the guidance, ‘Raising concerns and making complaints about Ofsted’, which is available from Ofsted’s 

website: www.gov.uk/government/publications/complaints-about-Ofsted. If you would like Ofsted to 
send you a copy of the guidance, please telephone 0300 123 4234, or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk. 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

The Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills (Ofsted) regulates and inspects to 
achieve excellence in the care of children and young people, and in education and skills for learners of 

all ages. It regulates and inspects childcare and children’s social care, and inspects the Children and 

Family Court Advisory and Support Service (Cafcass), schools, colleges, initial teacher training, further 
education and skills, adult and community learning, and education and training in prisons and other 

secure establishments. It assesses council children’s services, and inspects services for children looked 
after, safeguarding and child protection. 

If you would like a copy of this document in a different format, such as large print or Braille, please 
telephone 0300 123 1231, or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk. 

You may reuse this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under 

the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, visit 
www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence, write to the Information Policy Team, 

The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 
This publication is available at www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ofsted. 

Interested in our work? You can subscribe to our monthly newsletter for more information and 

updates: http://eepurl.com/iTrDn. 
 

Piccadilly Gate 
Store Street 

Manchester 
M1 2WD 

T: 0300 123 4234 

Textphone: 0161 618 8524 
E: enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 

W: www.ofsted.gov.uk 
© Crown copyright 2017 

Page 51

mailto:enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ofsted
http://eepurl.com/iTrDn


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST
	5.1 Ofsted Single Inspection Framework Outcome 2017
	051_Single inspection of LA children's services and review of the LSCB as pdf


